

# DISTANCE EDUCATION FOR TEACHER TRAINING: Modes, Models, and Methods

### **Mary Burns**

Education Development Center, Inc. Washington, DC



### Acknowledgments

### Thank you to the following colleagues both near and far for providing information, resources, and fact-checking on this guide.

Sarwat Alam, Director of Learning Systems and Pedagogy, USAID Pre-STEP Project (2013), Pakistan

Dr. Catherine Margaret Beukes-Amiss, Director, Centre for Innovation in Learning and Teaching (CILT), University of Namibia, Windhoek, Namibia

Arjana Blazic, Teacher Trainer, and Course Designer, EduDigiCon, Zagreb, Croatia

Alisa Buchstab, Junior Policy Advisor in the Sector Program Education, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GIZ), Germany

**Dr. Eduardo C. Cascallar**, University of Leuven, Belgium; Managing Director, Assessment Group International (Europe and USA)

Will Clurman, CEO, and co-founder, eKitabu, Nairobi, Kenya

Valeria Cruz Gomes, Head of Training and Support, ProFuturo, Madrid, Spain

**Dr. Robyn A. Defelice**, Learning Strategist and Consultant, Bloomsburg, Pennsylvania, USA

**Dr. Nathalia Edisherashvili**, Researcher, Institute of Education, University of Tartu, Estonia

**Concepción Gallego Garcia**, Expert on Global Partnerships and Institutional Relations, ProFuturo, Madrid, Spain

**Dr. Sophia Gorgodze**, Director National Assessment and Examinations Center, Ministry of Education and Science of Georgia

**Dr. Sara Hennessy**, Professor of Teacher Development and Pedagogical Innovation, Faculty of Education, University of Cambridge, and Research Director, EdTech Hub, Cambridge, England

Shane Ives, Serious gamer, solar electrician, Albuquerque, New Mexico, USA

Eilean von Lautz-Cauzanet, Policy Advisor in the Sector Program, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GIZ), Germany Stephen McDonald, app developer, Somerville, Massachusetts, USA

**Dr. Mary Mendenhall**, Teachers College, Columbia University, New York City, New York, USA

**Dr. Barbara Moser-Mercer**, Visiting Professor, University of Nairobi, Coordinator African Higher Education in Emergencies Network (AHEEN), Nairobi, Kenya

Denise-Henry Orndorff, Instructional Technology Coach, Frederick County Public Schools, Virginia, USA

**Ee-Reh Owo,** Schools Director, Justice Rising, Democratic Republic of the Congo

Aroa Sánchez Rodríguez, Educational Specialist, Innovation and Products, ProFuturo, Madrid, Spain

Jodi Sansone, Instructional designer, and eLearning specialist, Jodisansone.com, USA

**Dr. Beverly Shirley, Ac**ademic Program Officer for University of the West Indies Open Campus British Overseas Territories, (Cayman Islands, Anguilla, British Virgin Islands, Monserrat, Turks & Caicos, Bermuda), George Town, Grand Cayman, West Indies

**Dr. Carmen Strigel**, Director, Education Technology, RTI International, North Carolina, USA

**Dr. Torrey Trust**, Associate Professor, Learning Technology, College of Education University of Massachusetts Amherst, USA

Freda Wolfenden, Professor of Education and International Development, School of Education, Childhood, Youth and Sports Studies, The Faculty of Wellbeing, Education and Language Studies, United Kingdom Open University, Milton Keynes, England

**Dr. Diana Woolis**, CEO, Sustainable Learning Strategies, New York City, New York, USA

**Nicole M. Zumpano**, Director of Instructional Technology Coaching, The Learning Technology Center (LTC) of Illinois, USA

# My thanks to Education Development Center (EDC) colleagues for sharing program information and for providing resources, review, and feedback on chapters or content.

Helen Boyle, Vice President, Director of Program Strategy Susan Bruckner, Senior International Technical Advisor Nancy Meaker Chervin, International Technical Advisor Rachel Christina, Director, International Basic Education Leslie Goodyear, Distinguished Scholar/ Principal Evaluation Director Nevin Katz, Web and App Developer Stephanie Knutson, International Accreditors for Continuing Education and Training Compliance Manager Nora Nunn, International Technical Associate Shelley Pasnik, Senior Vice President Gerald Sanders, Facilities Administrative Manager Tamara Vitolo, Research Associate, Center for Children and Technology

**Katherine Yasin**, Principal International Technical Advisor, Director of English for Latin America.

**Special thanks to Bronwyn Taggart** for her careful editing.

**My deepest gratitude to Mary Hooker**, International Technical Advisor, Education Development Center, for review, feedback, and wonderful insights on multiple chapters in Section II of this guide.

**My final thanks** to those who fund, develop, research, evaluate, design, teach and participate in distance learning programs for teachers across the globe. This guide draws on your work. Thank you as well to EDC's Digital Design Group.

### **About the Author**

**Mary Burns** is a senior technology and teacher professional development specialist at EDC. A former 10-year teacher in the United States, México, and Jamaica, she has worked in the area of technologyenabled professional development since 1997, instructing, designing, and evaluating both distancebased and face-to-face professional development for teachers, teacher educators, and instructional coaches. She has authored peer-reviewed papers, books, articles, and blog posts about teacher professional development, distance learning, and teaching with technology. She works in Asia, Africa, the Middle East, Latin America, the Caribbean, Europe, and the United States.

#### **Preferred Citation**

Burns, M. (2023). *Distance Education for Teacher Training: Modes, Models and Methods.* (2nd Edition). Washington, DC: Education Development Center.

© 2023 Education Development Center, Inc. ("EDC"). This work cannot be used, reproduced, sold or disseminated without prior written consent by EDC.



### Section II. Chapter 14

## PREPARING DISTANCE LEARNERS

### **Table of Contents**

14.1 Overview	1
14.1 Overview. 14.2 The Problem of Attrition in Online Courses	1
14 3 What Qualities Define Successful Online Learners?	2
14.3.1 Personal Characteristics	. 3
14.3.2 Learning-Related Characteristics	. 3
14.3.3 Course and Program-Related Characteristics	. 3
14.4 Preparing Teachers to Be Successful Distance Learners	. 4
14.4.1 Diagnostically Assess a Learner's Readiness to Participate in a Distance Course	
14.4.2 Create High-Touch, High-Interaction Courses	. 5
14.4.3 Offer Blended Learning Opportunities	5
14.4.4 Offer an Orientation	
14.4.5 Differentiate Online Learning Offerings	7
14.4.6 Help Learners Develop Study Skills	7
14.4.7 Help Learners with Writing	8
14.4.8 Help Learners with Reading	
14.4.9 Provide Technology Training and Support	10
14.4.10 Use LMS Analytics as an "Early Warning System" to Support Struggling Learners	
14.5 Conclusion	10

# **Best Practice:** Successful distance education programs prepare learners to successfully complete their distance education program.

#### 14.1 Overview

For many prospective and current teachers, their first experience as a distance learner may occur in their very first distance learning program. For highly structured, technically simple, and classroom-based modes of distance education such as interactive audio instruction (IAI), instructional television, or short online minimodules, a lack of preparation in these modes of distance education may make learning and implementation of learning difficult. But for less structured, highly technical, and non-classroombased modes of distance education-immersive environments, online courses, or self-directed print-based learning-a lack of preparation in the intended mode of distance learning may make transfer of learning impossible.

The education world was introduced to the complexity of learning via distance during the COVID-19 pandemic remote schooling in 2020. The concept of "attrition," or dropping out of an online program, moved from a dry, abstract education metric to a global learning crisis and educational tragedy as students simply disappeared from their online courses, adaptive learning programs, or *Zoom* classes (Spitzer et al., 2021).

Long before the COVID-19 pandemic, attrition emerged as a perennial problem in distance learning programs as noted in Chapter 5. For example, in 1998 Potashnik & Capper estimated the overall attrition rate from mainly print-based distance education courses to be about 40%. Slightly more than a decade later, Latchem & Jung (2010) assessed the attrition rate in Asian open universities (which tended to blend a mix of distance modalities) at 90%. More recent data on Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) show that even among high-achieving learners who are motivated and intend to complete their course, only about 20% do so (Kizilcec et al., 2020). And even where learners *do* complete a MOOC course, they are less likely to continue with this mode of instruction. For instance, a multiyear study of the two largest MOOC providers, *Coursera* and *edX*, found that retention rates declined with every cohort, from 38% in 2012 to 7% in 2018 (Reich & Ruipérez-Valiente, 2019).

### 14.2 The Problem of Attrition in Online Courses

The most established distance education route for pre- and in-service teachers is via traditional online courses, a mixture of bichronous or asynchronous instruction. Although it is difficult to determine an exact overall attrition rate for online education, research has typically shown that attrition rates in online courses greatly exceed those of face-to-face instruction; these estimates, however, vary widely, from 10%–20% to 40%–80% (Bawa, 2016; Holder, 2007; Smith, 2010).

Attrition rates are different for different types of online courses. For instance, the attrition rate was 31% for learners from 16 Sub-Saharan African countries participating in the Global e-Schools and Communities Initiatives (GESCI)'s *African Leadership* in ICT (ALICT-LATIC) blended course from 2012-2015 (Santally, 2016, pp. 118–119). For a five-month, cohort-based, highly structured online coaching course in Indonesia, it was less than 5% (Burns, 2013). As noted in Chapter 5, the attrition rate for TESS India's *Enhancing Teacher Education Through OER MOOC!* was 50% across two iterations of the course (Wolfenden et al., 2017, as cited in McAleavy at al., 2018). While there is no fixed rate of attrition or persistence across online courses, we can state with some confidence that for universities and other institutions of higher education (teacher training colleges, for example), a significant portion of online learners fail to complete a course of study.

As Chapter 5 suggests, online learners espouse a number of motivations for taking an online course—flexibility, cost, convenience, and perceived ease of completion. But these motivations may not compensate for the many extrinsic and intrinsic online-learning-related factors that contribute to attrition, which include:

- personal, financial, work-related, and family issues (Barab et al., 2001; Bawa, 2016; Park & Choi, 2009);
- the very open and distant nature of online learning, particularly in asynchronous courses (Perraton et al., 2002);
- a lack of support in many online courses (Burns, 2016a; Price et al., 2007);
- unrealistic expectations about the time and effort needed to complete an online course (Holder, 2007; Stanford-Bowers, 2008);
- unfamiliarity with learning in a distance environment (Bawa, 2016; Latchem & Jung, 2010; Ng, 2012);
- poverty and lower academic ability (Acosta et al., 2021; Price et al., 2007);
- a belief that virtual learning is less real than in-person learning (Park & Choi, 2009; Price et al., 2007); and,
- the fact that many online courses are presented as part of higher education institutions where dropout rates tend to be higher, even in inperson programs (Hanson, 2022).

It is difficult to overstate the degree to which attrition threatens online learning as a viable educational delivery mechanism. Lower retention and completion rates (i.e., higher attrition rates) are a barrier to more widespread adoption of online learning. High rates of attrition, especially as witnessed during the remote learning of the COVID-19 pandemic, undermine the perceived quality, utility, and cost-effectiveness of online learning. Indeed, high rates of attrition undermine the very legitimacy of online learning and call into question whether it is even worth the investment.

Nor can the importance of preparing online learners to succeed in an online environment be overstated. The previous chapter discussed the challenges of teaching well in an online learning environment; it is often equally difficult to learn successfully in an online environment, whether synchronous, asynchronous, or bichronous. This is particularly true for learners who are new to using technology, learning through technology, learning alone in unstructured environments, and who may also face personal, professional, and financial challenges. For many readers working in teacher training programs in the Global South, this profile may essentially constitute the majority of their online learners.

Thus, as will be discussed in this chapter, given the inherent threat of attrition in online learning, online programs must prepare their *learners*, as they do their instructors, to succeed in an online environment.

## 14.3 What Qualities Define Successful Online Learners?

Every online learner is unique. Just as online learners may leave a course for a variety of reasons, each may persist in an online course or course of study in his or her own way. That said, the research generally points to three sets of characteristics that influence persistence in online learning.

### 14.3.1 Personal Characteristics

The first are the *personal characteristics* of the online learner, among them self-discipline, autonomy, responsibility, self-directedness, self-efficacy, and self-regulation (Berry, 2017; Chen et al., 2018; Edisherashvili et al., 2022; Holder, 2007; Hoxby, 2017; Keegan, 1996; Stephen & Rockinson-Szapkiw, 2021; Zimmerman, 2011). The three characteristics of selfdirectedness, self-efficacy, and self-regulation are distinct, although interrelated, and are frequently conflated. While they are important for in-person learning, their importance is more pronounced in many forms of distance learning, such as online learning (Edisherashvili et al., 2022).

- Self-directedness involves learners choosing to initiate their own learning—diagnosing their own needs, formulating learning goals, implementing learning strategies, and evaluating their own efforts and outcomes (Knowles, 1975).
- Self-efficacy, previously discussed in Chapter
  8, is a belief that the learner can succeed if he
  or she tries. Learners with high self-efficacy
  believe that greater effort will lead to successful
  outcomes, a critical component of self regulation (Bandura, 1997).
- Self-regulation is the ability to organize one's emotions and behavior and thoughts in pursuit of attaining a long-term goal. It typically involves three "phases:" forethought, a focus on performance, and reflection (Zimmerman, 2011).

Broadly, learners who have these qualities generally succeed in online learning. Learners who don't, struggle in online environments. And while there is evidence that online learning can help learners develop these personality characteristics, there is little evidence that online programs are actually doing so (Barbour, 2014, p. 503).

Three categories of learners appear to be particularly vulnerable to attrition. The first are part-time online learners who often face a plethora of competing personal and professional demands (Lowe, 2005). The second are learners who matriculate from face-to-face learning environments that promote more passive learning (Lowe, 2005). The third are online learners who come from disadvantaged backgrounds (Kizilcec & Halawa, 2015). As discussed in Chapter 5: Online Learning, attrition rates are much higher among these groups—women, learners who work full time, economically disadvantaged learners, those from the Global South, learners who may not have been raised speaking the online course language of instruction, who are part of a minority racial or ethnic group, who have lower educational attainment, and who are academically at risk (Burns, 2021, p. 77; Chen & Jang, 2010; Kizilcec & Halawa, 2015). These disproportionately high attrition rates among less-affluent groups of learners undermine another of the more compelling justifications for online learning—that it provides equitable access to learners for whom face-to-face learning is not an option (Burns, 2021, p. 77).

### 14.3.2 Learning-Related Characteristics

The next set of attributes addresses *skills related to learning online*. These include expectations about the rigor of online study and its actual level of difficulty; the ability to successfully use technology; prior education level; successful completion of an online course; time management skills; reading and writing ability; and information management skills (Berry, 2017; Harrell & Bower, 2011; Holder 2007; Kizilcec & Halawa, 2015; Mandernach et al., 2006; Park & Choi, 2009).

### 14.3.3 Course and Program-Related Characteristics

Finally, there are *course/program-related variables*, such as access to technology, support, and materials; learner engagement and interaction with other learners; and learners' sense of connection or isolation. Positive learner perceptions of the instructor regarding the responsiveness, frequency, and quality of communication and feedback are linked with successful online completion, as discussed in the previous chapter. Course design and delivery modes (synchronous versus asynchronous) also influence the learner's sense of connection or isolation to the instructor, institution, or a learning group (Lapointe & Reisetter, 2008; Rizvi et al., 2020; Stanford-Bowers, 2008).

All of these variables—those related to the personality of the online learner, to the course itself, and to the nature of online learning—are highly interconnected and affect a learner's readiness to be a successful online learner.

In many parts of the world, pre- and in-service teacher-learners may enter an online learning environment with little or no readiness to learn online. They may have little or no experience with distance learning in general or with online learning in particular. They may not know what an online discussion is, why it is essential to an online course, how to compose the types of thoughtful responses that stimulate and sustain discussion, or how to respond to a colleague's posts-especially if they disagree with the content (Burns, 2010). They may lack familiarity with conventions of online communication. They may have no knowledge of "netiquette"using appropriate subject lines, addressing the individual or group, and using techniques to extend the online discussion-seemingly minor points that cumulatively can derail communication and learning in an online environment. More critically, learners may not understand the value of interacting with a likeminded community of professionals or see themselves as part of a broader network (Burns, 2010).

This degree of readiness in turn influences the learner's chances of success in an online program. Learners with low readiness—who may not have ever partaken of an online course, who lack suitable time management skills, or who don't read or write well or like to read and write are more likely to drop out of an online course. In contrast, learners with a high degree of readiness, such as those who possess the personal skills associated with successful online learning and those with strong technology skills who have strong information management skills, are more likely to persist in an online course.

## 14.4 Preparing Teachers to Be Successful Distance Learners

Because attrition is such a threat to online learning, and because its causes are so multilayered, the remainder of this chapter focuses on strategies to prepare pre- and in-service teachers to become "successful" distance learners— that is, learners who complete the requirements of their distance course.

Distance programs can undertake this preparation in a number of ways, as detailed below.

### 14.4.1 Diagnostically Assess a Learner's Readiness to Participate in a Distance Course

Research on successful distance learners demonstrates that they are highly motivated, self-directed, comfortable with technology, and have good time-management skills (Bawa, 2016; Mandernach et al., 2006; Rizvi et al., 2020). While these are clearly the types of learners that distance programs should attempt to reach, they may not be the learners who enroll in a program. Nor do these findings mean that learners who lack *all* of these skills should be screened out of distance education opportunities, since research also demonstrates that these skills can be cultivated in an online learning environment where there is sufficient instructor support (Barbour, 2014; Bawa, 2016; Burns, 2013).

Distance education programs can administer a self-assessment tool that allows the learner to measure his or her readiness to participate in a distance learning course. Surprisingly, most distance learning providers do not appear to use self-assessment data to screen for course registration. Such self-assessment tools can focus on a series of learner behaviors, attributes, or competencies, such as computer, literacy, discussion, time management, and communication skills. Some self-assessment tools include a sum score that indicates whether or not the learner will be successful in the course.<sup>1</sup>

In addition to such self-assessments, programs also can create interest inventories or "minicourses" that give learners a taste of learning in an online world.

### 14.4.2 Create High-Touch, High-Interaction Courses

While it is easier—logistically and financially to create asynchronous, self-paced courses for online learners, attrition is much higher in these kinds of courses. There is little structure; no one may know or care if they drop out; and the learner is alone in the pursuit of his/her learning endeavors. Distance education programs should balance asynchronous, self-paced courses that allow for flexibility and convenience with instructor-led, cohort-based, collaborative, and highly synchronous courses that offer multiple opportunities for meaningful and constant learner interaction with content, with the instructor, and with one another.

High-touch, high-interaction, highly structured courses with a heavy emphasis on learnerinstructor and learner-learner interaction can create engaging, caring, and collaborative learning environments. Online learners repeatedly cite connectedness with peers as the most important variable in developing a sense of community (as discussed in the next chapter) (Santally, 2016). This connectedness has been shown to significantly affect perceived learning (Berry, 2017; Gray & DiLoreto, 2016). Meaning-making is more easily done as part of a community, especially if the course is organized as a project- or inquirybased activity and the instructor offers continuous support. It is emotionally and cognitively powerful to wrestle with difficult concepts and interpret information with a community of learners and because of the high degree of interdependence in such a course, there is less temptation to give up since learners need each other to complete their work. Such courses can foster a sense of belonging and community and create an environment that cultivates both self-confidence and self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997).

Grouping composition and size are important in such an environment. Groups must be large enough to promote diversity of experiences and ideas, yet small enough to allow for true collaboration and meaningful roles, lest the "freeriding" problem-where one learner benefits from a group grade without doing his/her share of the work-emerges (Burns, 2016b; Johnson et al., 1990; Laurillard, 2016). In terms of optimal group composition, like-skilled tiered grouping, where members have similar skills, is better than other types of grouping when the end goal is improving learning for all individuals (Wiens et al., 2022).<sup>2</sup> In terms of optimal group size, Johnson et al. (1990) recommend no more than 4–5 learners per team. Anything larger makes meaningful group roles harder to develop (Burns, 2016b).

### 14.4.3 Offer Blended Learning Opportunities

Some may feel that this approach defeats the purpose of a distance program; however, combining distance learning with a sizable portion of face-to-face assistance offers greater opportunity for successful completion of a distance education program. As discussed in Chapter 5, blended learning offers several advantages.

It offers personalized and individualized justin-time teaching, learning, and support (this topic is discussed at greater length in *Chapter 16: Supporting Distance Learners*). It bridges the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>One such resource comes from the U.S. State of Washington's State Board for Community and Technical Colleges: "Is Online Learning for Me?" See <u>https://www.sbctc.edu/becoming-a-student/right-degree-you/is-online-learning-for-me.aspx</u>. See also the McVay Readiness for Online Learning Instrument, which is more grounded in research.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For more information on how to group learners, view <u>https://tinyurl.com/5n72xfts</u>.

psychological, conceptual, and programmatic distances between instructor and learner, between the distance program and the learner, and between the distance program and schools. Both pre- and in-service teachers appreciate the convenience of online learning, but they often want the richness and depth of interacting faceto-face with their colleagues (Burns, in press). Though referencing their relationships with children and adolescents (versus adult learners), a survey of American teachers reflecting on emergency remote teaching during COVID-19 pandemic school lockdowns pointed to some noteworthy concerns about how well they met their students' social-emotional needs online versus face-to-face (Arnett, 2021). In short, as seen during COVID-19 pandemic emergency remote learning, for many instructors and learners, optimal learning situations still involve the physical presence of an instructor.

Finally, for activities specifically related to teaching-such as clinical teaching experiences or in-class implementation of a particular instructional strategy—it is simply easier to monitor, assess, and provide feedback in person versus online. However, in the absence of inspectors, mentors, or supervisors who can travel to a remote school to supervise a practicum or monitor the implementation of a new literacy approach, technology can record the practicum so that supervisors or distance education instructors at another location can review and provide feedback at a later date. Or teachers can use a Swivl camera so an offsite coach or observer can assess or assist with classroom implementation of an innovation.

Not all online programs or providers may be able to afford three modes of instruction fully online, fully face-to-face, and blended. Thus, if courses are online, it is important to blend as much as possible—that is, between modes of instruction (synchronous and asynchronous) and interactions (in-person and online)—via the use of online "face-based" tools (Web conferencing tools).

### 14.4.4 Offer an Orientation

Orientation to online courses or programs has been shown to boost online learner retention and is particularly valuable to novice distance learners (Bawa, 2016; Burns, 2016a). McVay (2000) found that when learners experienced orientation sessions, drop-out rates that had been 35%–50% decreased to 8%–15%. Unfortunately, universities often have omitted orientations for online learners. As an example, as of spring 2020, only 12% of U.S. public four-year institutions required an online learner orientation prior to the term. Since the COVID-19 pandemic, however, this has increased to 34% (Garrett et al., 2021, p. 37).

Orientations offer practical benefits: They allow instructors and learners to examine the syllabus; learn how to use technology, materials, and perform course routines; ask questions; create a group calendar; or complete a Help request. They also can begin to help learners develop online habits of mind: overcoming procrastination, developing self-regulation strategies, and honing appropriate online communication techniques. This technical, social, and academic preparation often is cited by online learners as one of the factors contributing to their success in online learning (Bawa, 2016; Burns, 2013).

Beyond following the "letter" of distance education, orientations can help learners also understand the "spirit" of distance learning. Most importantly, if orientations are in person, learners meet each other and begin to work together. In so doing, they begin to grasp that a successful online learning experience requires a high degree of individual and collaborative involvement and their individual and collective responsibilities as active, engaged, and collegial online learners. When explicitly designed to do so, orientations can prepare potential learners to understand the importance of both community formation and of the Internet as a vehicle for community formation. Learners can begin to see their online program or course not just as a collection of resources but as a "place" with

like-minded "neighbors," a collection of human collaborative efforts.

### 14.4.5 Differentiate Online Learning Offerings

As Chapter 5 elaborated, online learning is extraordinarily diverse, but we often channel learners into a narrow range of online learning opportunities—an asynchronous course through a learning management system (LMS) or a fully synchronous Zoom class.

Online learning can be blended, synchronous, asynchronous, or bichronous, depending on the platform employed. Thus, to get the best for and out of online learners, programs that have the resources to do so, should offer different platforms for online learning. To do begin to do this, however, educators have to understand *who* their learners are, *what* they need to learn, *how* they can best learn, their levels of readiness, and the best way to design and deliver online courses to address the readiness factors raised in the previous section. The answers to these questions determine the platforms to use.

Online platforms, as seen in Chapter 5, occupy a continuum from solo, traditional offerings to more social-collaborative ones. At the more traditional end of the spectrum, Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) can be made available to learners who are highly self-directed and who prefer to learn at their own pace. Google Classroom, which teachers across the globe use for their students, is a platform with which many teachers are comfortable; yet it is little used in adult online learning, except for content storage and workflow. Moving toward the more the collaborative, social end of the spectrum, educational social networking sites, such as Facebook Groups, combine the functionality of a traditional LMS with the more peer-based, open, and "flatter" design and interaction of a social networking site (Burns, 2016a).

Here learners can communicate, interact, and collaborate and with structure, time, and support, build some kind of community.

Finally, online immersive environments virtual worlds, virtual reality, and gaming, for example—occupy (thus far) the farthest end of the continuum from traditional online classes. Although not common as modes of teacher online professional development, as discussed in Chapter 4, they may be particularly helpful when teachers lack strong content knowledge as well as thinking, reasoning, and problem-solving skills. Such platforms can serve as engaging vehicles to promote situated teaching skills while reducing extraneous cognitive load.<sup>3</sup> They can also help teacher-learners interact with and manipulate complex systems and engage in scenarios that would otherwise be impossible (Burns, 2016a).

The key point here is that online learning is, and should be, a highly diverse enterprise and that teacher education programs should embrace new models of online learning and plan teacher learning experiences accordingly. Not every teacher will require the same type of online learning experience, nor will every teacher respond positively or equally to the same model of online learning. Program designers must take care to avoid the "one-size-fits-all" approach of so many current online learning offerings and take care to differentiate online learning offerings based on teachers' diverse needs and learning preferences.

### 14.4.6 Help Learners Develop Study Skills

For many learners coming from the directive, more didactic, and highly structured world of in-person learning, the online environment may simply be too ill-structured, too open, and too disorienting (Bawa, 2016). Thus, to reduce the amount of up-front and ongoing support and guidance learners may demand of their instructors, online learning programs can work

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See Chapters 1 and 11 for discussions of cognitive load.

to help them become successful distance-based students who cultivate independent study strategies and skills. These include the following:

 Time management skills. These skills include developing schedules, setting aside one hour a day to work on the course, using a timer (such as the Pomodoro technique<sup>4</sup>), making a calendar or schedule, developing mindfulness techniques, setting hard deadlines, and rewarding oneself for completing a task.

An important part of time management is helping learners understand procrastination, what it is, and why it's dangerous to online learning success. Procrastination is not laziness but rather a technique for "coping with challenging emotions and negative moods induced by certain tasks—boredom, anxiety, insecurity, frustration, resentment, and selfdoubt" (Lieberman, 2019). These feelings occur most often when learners are faced with a task that they view as "aversive" (i.e., boring, frustrating, lacking meaning and/or structure), and that therefore leads to unpleasant feelings or a negative mood (Escueta et al., 2020; Sirois & Pychyl, 2013, p. 4). What is the best strategy to overcome procrastination? Just start.

- Information management skills. These skills include searching, retrieval, and curation strategies for print and electronic resources as well as the ability to organize and manage files, archive, update and disseminate information. They also involve strategies to avoid being overwhelmed by course requirements.
- Plan making. Especially for first-time online learners, distance programs can provide techniques for completing work and establishing plans, routines, and procedures by which learners can accomplish their online work. Plan making has been shown to help in the first few weeks of an online course. It does require continuous revisiting, otherwise the effects fade (Kizilcec et al., 2020).

### 14.4.7 Help Learners with Writing

Online learning is still a read-and-write medium. Many learners have problems with the rhetorical, grammatical, and mechanical conventions associated with writing. In Indonesia, as part of its school-based coaching program, EDC devoted two days of its face-to-face orientation to helping online learners (in this case, coaches in training) develop writing skills. Learners examined the structure and characteristics of good written posts (anchors). They practiced writing online posts alone and with their coaching partner, practiced responding to discussion questions, provided one another with written feedback, and revised their posts. Finally, learners helped to develop indicators for rubrics so that they understood the assessment criteria for their own written work. Text-to-speech tools, such as those found on phones, and voice tools can be harnessed to support or replace writing in an online course, so that online learners who have undiagnosed disabilities or are simply poor writers could still participate in online communication.

Online written communication is a particularly important skill because written communication is often the lifeblood of an asynchronous or bichronous class. It is also critical because of the inherent challenges associated with it. In spaces where we are physically proximate with others, nonverbal cues, the norms of polite behavior, self-consciousness, concern for others, anxiety, shyness, and other social cues subconsciously govern our behavior and keep our inhibitions in check. In online settings, these aforementioned constraints are absent or less apparent, and as such, online communication may become less inhibited—driven by a lack of awareness or concern for how we communicate, how we are perceived, and how we affect others, particularly if we're in an online course where we've never met the other learners and may never meet them (Burns, 2019). We may say something that is rude, insulting, or unpleasant-often unwittingly,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See <u>https://tinyurl.com/mr375sbd</u>

sometimes indifferently, or even deliberately. Suler (2004) calls this the "online disinhibition effect"— essentially acting online in ways we'd never do in person, especially with people we don't know or barely know.

Four discrete though intersecting factors fuel the negative online disinhibition effect. The first is "fast" thinking. This is thinking that is reactive, instinctive, and almost primeval. It is often our first, and instinctively emotional, reaction to an online article, an image, or a comment (Kahneman, 2011). It can lead to the expression of heartfelt sentiments or to reactive angry comments. Second is the anonymity afforded by online interactions-learners may not see each other, know who is in the course, or have interacted with other online classmates. Third is the mechanism of online communication itself: It is physically easy, effortless, and instantaneous (Just click "Send."). Finally, unlike an in-person conversation where we see the impact of our words on the listener, we can't see another online learner's reaction. Thus, the combination of an instinctive emotional reaction, the frictionless instantaneity of online communication, the anonymity, and the inability to see the hurt we've caused can severely corrode the morale, motivation, and esprit du corps of an online class.

There are a number of ways to address the disinhibition effect: educating learners about proper online communication; helping learners develop "wait time" skills before sending a response, especially where there's disagreement; teaching "netiquette" and digital citizenship skills; and helping learners communicate different points of view in neutral, non-threatening ways for example, by including stems, prompts and protocols for disagreeing or having difficult conversations. Other strategies include ensuring that learners know each other; establishing and enforcing online codes of conduct; using real names and photos; and ensuring that flaming, trolling, bullying and other negative online behaviors be immediately addressed.

#### 14.4.8 Help Learners with Reading

Many teacher-learners are not readers. They may not like to read or may be unable to read well or at all—in official or national languages (e.g., French, Spanish, Portuguese, Dari, or Amharic). Figure 1.2 in Chapter 1 discusses the difficulties of reading well from a screen. Online learners may come from oral cultures in which text-based information is not the norm for information transmission. Or they may read well in the national language but be unfamiliar with the more academic language of online courses.

To address these reading issues, many online course developers have devolved into creating content that are entirely multimedia based or offering "readings" that are tantamount to a half-page list of bulleted points. This may be convenient from a design perspective, but it is deleterious from a learning perspective. It is imperative that teachers be able to read text that is long and complex and be able to understand the main themes of such text, analyze these themes, and distinguish between fact and opinion (Carr, 2011; Schleicher, 2018; Wolf, 2018; see Figure 1.2 in Chapter 1). Online learning designers may not do learners any favors by reducing readings to a collection of lists and bullet points.

A number of reading techniques for adults can begin to address this. One is the College Board's SQ3R adult reading technique,<sup>5</sup> which can be used to help online learners better comprehend written text. This technique comprises five steps:

- 1. *scanning* the text to get a general overview of content;
- **2.** *questioning*, noting any questions one has about the text as a whole or about particular vocabulary;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Although developed in 1946, SQ3R has held up well according to research. For more information on the method, visit https://e-student.org/sq3r-study-method/

- **3.** active *reading*, carefully reading the text and making written notations;
- **4**. *reciting*, mentally reciting and summarizing the main points of that section after reading it; and,
- 5. *reviewing*, in this case with a partner, the main points of the text.

The point is not to emphasize one approach over another, but to recognize that in a distance learning medium, teachers, like students, may need an array of remedial supports to complete a course of study successfully.

### 14.4.9 Provide Technology Training and Support

The myth of the "digital native" has convinced online program designers that young preservice and in-service teachers are technology wizards and older teachers are technology Luddites. Neither of these stereotypes is true (Burns, in press; Ng, 2012; Pota et al., 2021). Teachers at both the pre-service and in-service levels require training in the technology tools they will use to learn via distance. Many times, though, the technology instruction may be overly expansive and decontextualized from the learning experience as a whole. While potential learners do need instruction in the technology they will use, it should be just enough, just in time, and jobembedded (see Figure 14.1).

This technology training must be accompanied by technology support for online learners. Online courses and programs have to provide live or just-in-time technical support. Asynchronous courses, in particular, must make available a support person or tutor who can help struggling learners with difficulties they may encounter with technology, as well as with content, directions, or an assignment.

### 14.4.10 Use LMS Analytics as an "Early Warning System" to Support Struggling Learners

Learning management systems (LMSs) generate a range of analytics (e.g., enrolment, log-ins,

#### Figure 14.1 The 5Js of Technology Training

The 5Js are a mnemonic that help educators focus on essential practices to help teachers learn technology:

- **1. Job-related:** Focus on the core competencies of the classroom, not just on the technology.
- 2. Just enough: Emphasize increased comfort, not proficiency, with computers. Focus on 1–3 techniques, no more, for using a particular application.
- **3. Just in time:** Provide teachers with technology training as needed and when needed.
- **4. Just in case:** Encourage teachers to plan for contingencies in case the technology fails.
- 5. Just try it: Apply enough pressure and support to compel teachers to try with their students one simple thing they've learned in their professional development (Burns & Dimock, 2007).

assignment submissions, time spent on an assignment), as well as discussion forums, emails, tests, and guizzes. These data can be used as part of an early warning alert system to tailor and automate supports for learners who fall behind. Within the LMS, the instructor can set up a number of conditions learners must meet in order to attain academic success; send alerts to the online instructor about a learner's status; and trigger automatic responding interventions directed to the "at-risk" learner (e.g., assigning more personalized instruction, tutoring, or a face-to-face or phone meeting). Such assistance helps the online instructor become aware of an online learner's struggles and can automate a set of stepwise system supports—such as, technical reminders to direct instructor interventionfor struggling online learners to help them complete the course.

### 14.5 Conclusion

Distance education programs must take care to focus as much on human beings as they have on technology. They must help both learners and their instructors develop the knowledge, skills, readiness, and dispositions to be active and successful members of an online community of learners and practitioners.

As we learned during emergency remote learning in 2020, learning is a highly social experience, and distance learners need and want to learn with their peers. Even if the primary mode of online instruction is asynchronous, it is important to build a surrounding sense of community so that online learners can share ideas, ask questions, and support one another (Bawa, 2016; Burns, 2013; LaPointe & Reisetter, 2008). That community, and how to design it, is the focus of the next chapter.

Citation: Burns, M. (2023). Preparing Distance Learners. In *Distance Education for Teacher Training: Modes, Models and Methods.* (2nd Edition). Washington, DC: Education Development Center.

#### References

Acosta, A., Palmer, I., & Romo-González, L. (2021). *Back to basics: Quality in digital learning.* New America: Education policy. <u>https://www.newamerica.org/education-policy/reports/back-to-basics/</u>

Arnett, T. (2021, May 13). Self directed learning: Niche approach or powerful innovation? *The Christensen Institute*. <u>https://www.christenseninstitute.org/blog/self-directed-learning-niche-approach-or-powerful-innovation/</u>

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. W.H. Freeman Publishing.

Barab, S., Thomas, M., & Merrill, H. (2001). Online learning: From information dissemination to fostering collaboration. *Journal of Interactive Learning Research*, *12*(1), 105–143. <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Online-Learning:-From-Information-Dissemination-to-Barab-Thomas/fae21aec32df4a98334cdc081f11800d78033e38</u>

Barbour, M. (2014). Training teachers for a virtual school system: A call to action. *K-12 Education: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications*, 1398–1415. <u>https://www.igi-global.com/chapter/training-teachers-for-a-virtual-school-system/88223</u>

Bawa, P. (2016). Retention in online courses: Exploring issues and solutions—A literature review. Sage Open, 6(1), https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015621777.

Berry, S. (2017). Educational outcomes of synchronous and asynchronous high school students: A quantitative causal-comparative study of online algebra 1 [Doctoral dissertation Northeastern University].

Burns, M. (2010, February). 17,000 islands, 1 goal: Indonesia turns to online resources to create a newtork of school-based coaches. *The Learning Professional*, 31(1), 18–23. <u>https://learningforward.org/journal/technology/17000-islands-1-goal/</u>

Burns, M. (2013, December). Staying or leaving? Designing for persistence in an online educator training program in Indonesia. Open Learning: The Journal of Open and Distance Learning, 28(2), 141–152. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02680513.2013.851023</u>

Burns, M. (2016a). Ignoradas y subutilizadas: Estrategias para incrementar la retención en programas en línea. In G. Kelchtermans, *Formación de formadores y educación de calidad como generadora de cambio* (pp. 115–138). Katholieke Universiteit Leuven and Universidad Nacional de Educación de Ecuador.

Burns, M. (2016b, November 22). *Five strategies to deepen student collaboration*. Edutopia. https://www.edutopia.org/article/5-strategies-deepen-student-collaboration-mary-burns

Burns, M. (2019, September 14). *Shedding our disinhibitions (Part 1 of 2)*. eLearning Industry. <u>https://elearningindustry.com/shedding-our-disinhibitions-part-1-of-2</u>

Burns, M. (2021). Background paper prepared for the 2023 Global Education Monitoring report, Technology and education: Technology in education. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000378951</u>

Burns, M. (in press). Barriers and supports for technology integration: Views from teachers. Background chapter prepared for the Global Education Monitoring report: Technology and education. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization.

Carr, N. (2011). The shallows. WW Norton.

Chen, K., & Jang, S. (2010). Motivation in online learning: Testing a model of self-determination theory. Computers in Human Behavior, 26, 741–752. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2010.01.011

Chen, M., Tseng, W., & Hsiao, T. (2018, January). The effectiveness of digital game vocabulary learning: A framework-based view of meta-analysis. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 49(1), 69–77. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12526</u>

Edisherashvili, N., Saks, K., Pedaste, M., & Leijen, Ä. (2022, January). Supporting self-regulated learning in distance learning contexts at higher education level: Systematic literature review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*(792422–792422), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.792422 Escueta, M., Nickow, A., Oreopoulos, P., & Quan, V. (2020). Upgrading education with technology: Insights from experimental research. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *58*(4), 897–996. doi:10.1257/jel.20191507

Garrett, R., Simunich, B., Legon, R., & Fredericksen, E. (2021). *CHLOE 6: Online learning leaders adapt for a post-pandemic world, The changing landscape of online education, 2021.* Quality Matters. <u>https://www.qualitymatters.org/qa-resources/resource-center/articles-resources/CHLOE-6-report-2021</u>

Gray, J., & DiLoreto, M. (2016). The effects of student engagement, student satisfaction, and perceived learning in online learning environments. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 11(1). <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1103654.pdf</u>

Hanson, M. (2022, June 17). College dropout rates. Education Data Initiative. https://educationdata.org/college-dropout-rates

Harrell, I., & Bower, B. (2011, August 30). Student characteristics that predict persistence in community college online courses. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 25, 178–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2011.590107</u>

Holder, B. (2007). An investigation of hope, academics, environment, and motivation as predictors of persistence in higher education online programs. *Internet & Higher Education*, 10(4), 245–260. doi:DOI:10.1016/j.iheduc.2007.08.002.

Hoxby, C. (2017). Online postsecondary education and labor productivity. In C. Hulten, & V. Ramey (eds.), Education, skills, and technical change: Implications for future US GDP growth (pp. 401–460). University of Chicago Press.

Johnson, D., Johnson, R., & Holubec, E. (1990). Cooperation in the classroom. Interaction Book Company.

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, fast and slow. Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

Keegan, D. (1996). Foundations of distance education. Routledge.

Kizilcec, R. F., Reich, J., Yeomans, M., Dann, C., Brunskill, E., Lopez, G., . . . Tingley, D. (2020, June 30). Scaling up behavioral science interventions in online education. *Proceedings of National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 117(26). https://www.pnas.org/content/117/26/14900

Kizilcec, R., & Halawa, S. (2015). Attrition and achievement gaps in online learning. Proceedings of the second ACM conference on learning at scale, (pp. 57–66). <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/2724660.2724680</u>

Knowles, M. (1975). Self-directed learning: A guide for learners and teachers. Association Press.

LaPointe, L., & Reisetter, M. (2008). Belonging online: Students' perceptions of the value and efficacy of an online learning community. *International Journal on E-learning*, 7(4), 641–665. https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/24419/

Latchem, C., & Jung, I. (2010). Distance and blended learning in Asia. NY: Routledge.

Laurillard, D. (2016, April). The educational problem that MOOCs could solve: Professional development for teachers of disadvantaged students. *Research in Learning Technology*, 24, 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/rlt.v24.29369</u>

Lieberman, C. (2019, March 26). Why you procrastinate (It has nothing to do with self-control). *New York Times*. <u>https://nyti.ms/2HWzAg2</u>

Lowe, S. (2005). Responding to learner needs in distance education: Providing academic and relational support (PARS). In S. Levine (Ed.), *Making distance education work: Understanding learning and learners at a distance* (pp. 73–87). LearnerAssociates.net.

Mandernach, B., Donnelli, E., & Dailey-Hebert, A. (2006). Learner attribute research juxtaposed with online instructor experience: Predictors of success in the accelerated, online classroom. *The Journal of Educators Online*, 3(2), 1–17. <u>https://tinyurl.com/4jua2m7b</u>

McAleavy, T., Hall-Chen, A., Horrocks, S., & Riggall, A. (2018). *Technology-supported professional development for teachers:* Lessons from developing countries. Education Development Trust. <u>https://www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com/</u> EducationDevelopmentTrust/files/34/3463d85a-031c-4f1e-9002-969b4daf4cdf.pdf

McVay, M. (2000). Developing a web-based distance student orientation to enhance student success in an online bachelor's degree completion program [Unpublished practicum report presented to the Ed.D. Program, Nova Southeastern University, Florida.]

Ng, W. (2012). Can we teach digital natives digital literacy? *Computers & Education, 59*(3), 1065–1078. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2012.04.016

Park, J., & Choi, H. (2009). Factors influencing adult learners' decision to drop out or persist in online learning. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 12(4), 207–217.* <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/jeductechsoci.12.4.207</u>

Perraton, H., Creed, C., & Robinson, B. (2002). *Teacher education guidelines: Using open and distance learning.* United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization: <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000125396</u>

Pota, V., Hennessy, S., Koomar, S., Kreimeia, A., Zubairi, A., Aerts, C., & Gault, C. (2021). *Turning to Technology: A global survey of teachers' responses to the COVID-19 pandemic*. T4. <u>https://t4.education/t4-insights/reports/turning-to-technology</u>

Potashnik, M., & Capper, J. (1998). Distance education: Growth and diversity. World Bank.

Price, L., Richardson, J., & Jelfs, A. (2007). Face-to-face versus online tutoring support in distance education. *Studies in Higher Education*, 32(1), 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03075070601004366</u>

Reich, J., & Ruipérez-Valiente, J. (2019). The MOOC pivot. Science, 363(6423), 130–131. DOI: 10.1126/science.aav7958

Rizvi, S., Rienties, B., Rogaten, J., & Kizilcec, R. (2020). Investigating variation in learning processes in a FutureLearn MOOC. Journal of computing in higher education, 32(1), 162–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-019-09231-0</u>

Santally, M. (2016). An evaluation of the African leadership in ICT programme from a quality assurance perspective. *European Journal of Open, Distance and E-learning, 19*(2), 114–128. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1138166.pdf</u>

Schleicher, A. (2018). *PISA 2018: Insights and interpretations*. <u>http://www.educationduepuntozero.it/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/tabelleOCSEFierli.pdf</u>

Sirois, F., & Pychyl, T. (2013). Procrastination and the priority of short-term mood regulation: Consequences for future self. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 7(2), 115–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12011</u>

Smith, B. (2010). *E-learning technologies: A comparative study of adult learners enrolled on blended and online campuses engaging in a virtual classroom* [Doctoral dissertation, Capella University]. <u>https://www.proquest.com/openview/56d6f1c674d4484bf</u> <u>b6f2c2fca0d37c2/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750</u>

Spitzer, M., Gutsfeld, R., Wirzberger, M., & Moeller, K. (2021). Evaluating students' engagement with an online learning environment during and after COVID-19 related school closures: A survival analysis approach. *Trends in Neuroscience and Education, 25*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tine.2021.100168

Stanford-Bowers, D. (2008, March). Persistence in online classes: A study of perceptions among community college stakeholders. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 4(1), 37–50. <u>https://jolt.merlot.org/vol4no1/stanford-bowers0308.pdf</u>

Stephen, J., & Rockinson-Szapkiw, A. (2021). A high-impact practice for online students: The use of a first-semester seminar course to promote self-regulation, self-direction, online learning self-efficacy. *Smart Learning Environments*, 8(6), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40561-021-00151-0

Suler, J. (2004). The online disinhibition effect. Cyberpsychology & Behavior, 7(3). https://bit.ly/2ua6yEs

Wiens, P., Zizzi, C., & Heatwole, C. (2022). Instructional Grouping Theory: Optimizing Classrooms and the Placement of Ranked Students. *Educational Practice and Theory*, 44(1), 5-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.7459/ept/44.1.02</u>

Wolf, M. (2018, August 25). Skim reading is the new normal. The effect on society is profound. The Guardian. https://bit.ly/2BMd3Bb

Zimmerman, B. (2011). Motivational sources and outcomes of self-regulated learning and performance. In B. Zimmerman, & D. Schunk (eds.), Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance (pp. 49–64). Routledge.

